THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001937

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Charles Gary, Petitioner,

v.

Hattie M. Askew, Will Outlaw, and Deboria Outlaw,
individually and d/b/a Low Country Medical Transport,
Low Country Medical Transport, Inc., Eugene A. Kirkland,
and American Medical Response, Inc. (d/b/a Access2Care) Defendants

Of whom American Medical Response, Inc. (d/b/a
Access2Care) is, Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Joseph Dawson, III, Esq.
Post Office Box 41367
North Charleston, South Carolina 29423
(843) 207-9004

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO CONSIDER THE PUBLIC POLICY REASONS THE TRIAL COURT RELIED ON TO FIND THAT AMERICAN MEDICAL RESPONSE INC. OWED A NONDELEGABLE DUTY TO THE PETITIONER?
2. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT AMERICAN MEDICAL RESPONSE INC. OWED THE PETITIONER A NONDELEGABLE DUTY TO PROVIDE SAFE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES UNDER ITS NONEMERGENCY MEDICAL TRANSPORTATION CONTRACT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner Charles Gary filed this lawsuit on October 16, 2012, alleging Negligence, Negligence Per Se, Gross Negligence, Loss of Consortium/Companionship of Spouse, and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress against the Defendants and AMR in this case, resulting from a single ambulance accident where he was injured and his wife was killed. The Defendants are Hattie M. Askew, Will Outlaw, and Deboria Outlaw, individually and d/b/a Low Country Medical Transport ("LCMT"), Low Country Medical Transport Inc., (LCMT and Low Country Medical Transport Inc. collectively referred to herein as "Low Country Medical Transport"), and Eugene A. Kirkland filed its Answer on November 30, 2012. American Medical Response Inc., (D/B/A Access2Care) (hereinafter "AMR" or "Access2Care"), filed its Answer to the Petitioner's Complaint on November 21, 2012, and thereafter filed an Amended Answer on December 12, 2012. The Defendants and AMR's Answers alleged that they were not liable for the damages Mr. Gary suffered resulting from the accident.

On February 26, 2013, the Petitioner filed a motion for Summary Judgment. The Trial Court held a motions hearing on May 14, 2013, to decide the Petitioner's Summary Judgment Motion on three of his causes of action pursuant to Rule 56, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. After issuing a Summary Judgment Order on August 20, 2013, the Defendants and AMR timely filed Motions to Reconsider the Trial Court's Order. The Court held a subsequent hearing on November 12, 2013, pursuant to the Defendants and AMR's Motions for Reconsideration. On December 3, 2013, the Trial Court entered its Order on Reconsideration modifying its August 20, 2013, Order affirming its decision on Negligence and Loss of Consortium but reconsidering its ruling on the Petitioner's Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress claim. AMR timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal on December 13, 2013. The Court of Appeals

heard oral arguments on July 15, 2015, to determine if AMR could escape liability for the negligent actions of a subcontractor because it owed the Petitioner an absolute, nondelegable duty to provide safe transportation pursuant to its contract with the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (“SCDHHS” or “Health Department”) and public policy. The Court of Appeals issued its decision on June 1, 2016. The AMR Court reversed the Circuit Court finding that AMR did not owe a nondelegable duty to provide safe transportation to Gary pursuant to both the Contract and public policy. Garv v. Askew, 417 S.C. 232, 789 S.E.2d 94 (Ct.App.2016).

Petitioner petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision to determine if AMR owed Charles Gary a nondelegable duty to provide safe transportation pursuant to its Contract with SCDHHS and public policy. This Court granted the Petitioner's petition on August 4, 2017.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the time of the accident, Charles Gary was a 61-year old bedridden diabetic, amputee, and paraplegic who lost the use of his lower body in 2004, in an unrelated incident. Mr. Gary is unemployed and draws social security. He is also a Medicaid beneficiary in South Carolina. Before this single ambulance accident, Mr. Gary lived at home with his wife, Blondell Gary,¹ who died in the single ambulance accident. Mrs. Gary did not work outside of the home, instead she assisted Mr. Gary with all of his daily activities including bathing, dressing, preparing meals, shopping, cleaning the house, and caring for his pre-existing medical conditions and disabilities. Mr. Gary was completely dependent upon Mrs. Gary. She was his sole means of comfort, care,

¹ The Estate of Blondell Gary, filed a separate lawsuit in the Hampton County Court of Common Pleas. The Hampton County circuit court has placed AMR in default for failing to file an Answer to the Estate's Complaint within 30 days. (App. 0164-0168, Order of Default in Angel Y. Gary as Personal Representative of the Estate of Blondell Gary v. LowCountry Medical Transport Inc., et al., 2012-CP-25-00402). The parties to this case have settled their claims and the matter has been dismissed with prejudice.

and support prior to her death caused by the Defendants. (App. 0093-0095, Gary Summ. J. Aff. ¶ 4).

AMR is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of a state other than South Carolina. AMR provides non-emergency medical transportation services to governments, among other services. On or about May 25, 2011, the Health Department entered into a contract with AMR to implement the South Carolina Non-Emergency Medical Transportation (NEMT) Program for \$162,077,477.00.² (App. 0144, Notice Regarding Award). Pursuant to the Request for Proposals and its contract with the Health Department, AMR was tasked with administering the daily functions of the NEMT Program for Medical Transportation for South Carolina's Regions Two and Three. Mr. Gary resides in Region 3. AMR was tasked with "operating a call center and contracting with transportation providers to fulfill the services." (App. 0096-0141, NEMT Contract).

The NEMT Program pays for transportation of eligible Medicaid members to medical care or services, which are covered under the Medicaid Program. The NEMT Program is intended to provide non-emergency medical transportation services in a cost-effective manner to Medicaid members who need access to medical care or services. (App. 0097, NEMT Contract, §1.1). This contract was initiated through a competitive request for proposal (RFP) solicitation process to

² AMR had a five-year contract with the Health Department. (App. 0144, Non-Emergency Medical Transportation Bid Notice of Award, Reinstatement Notice, dated May 25, 2011). On or about November 22, 2011, AMR asked the Health Department to approve a \$25 million change order due to a mistake with its bid, seeking to increase its potential contract value to \$187 million over the contract term. (App. 0145-0148, Letter from Steven G. Murphy, Senior Vice President, Government and National Services, American Medical Response, Inc. to John R. Stevens, State Procurement Officer, dated November 22, 2011). The Health Department denied AMR's \$25 million change order request, and thereafter, AMR filed a notice to terminate its contract with the Health Department effective February 20, 2012, and began a 60-day transition to exit the State. (App. 0149-0150, Letter from Steven G. Murphy, Senior Vice President, Government and National Services, American Medical Response, Inc. to Melanie Giese, RN, Deputy Director, Medical and Managed Care Services, South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, dated December 16, 2011).

provide non-emergency medical transportation services to eligible Medicaid recipients in South Carolina like Mr. Gary. (App. 0096-0141, NEMT Contract).

The NEMT Program was a turnkey operation where AMR would provide transportation management and administrative services to Medicaid members. AMR was “responsible for identifying, recruiting, and negotiating service agreements with transportation providers in order to meet the needs of Medicaid members in the region.” (App. 0099, NEMT Contract, § 2.4.5, General Broker Requirements). AMR’s duties and responsibilities under its contract included the following:

The Broker must ensure that high quality services are provided and must immediately take necessary and corrective steps when representatives of SCDHHS identify inappropriate, undesirable, or otherwise poor service.

(App. 0197, § 2.4.8 General Broker Requirements).

The Broker is responsible for fulfilling all verified trip requests and ensuring that all trips are completed safely and on-time. SCDHHS expects the Broker to provide trip coverage twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week.

Fulfillment of all verified trip requests and ensuring that all trips are completed safely and on-time must include verification of the delivery of transportation services through the use of tracking tools and cost effective methods to determine the real-time location of members, verification of member delivery to the medical service, vehicle location and disposition and to aid trip recovery processes. The functionality of tracking tools and methods must be explained operationally and approved by SCDHHS.

(App. 0104, § 3.3.5 Fulfillment of All Trips Requests).

The Broker must promptly report to SCDHHS accidents, injuries, and incidents that have occurred in conjunction with a scheduled trip if a Member was present in the vehicle.

(App. 0105, § 3.3.8 Accidents, Injuries, and Incidents).

The Broker is responsible for all services provided by transportation providers. The Broker must ensure adequate oversight of transportation providers and ensure that they comply with all applicable State and Federal laws and regulations. The Broker must monitor the transportation providers to ensure compliance with the terms of their subcontracts and ensure compliance with all

transportation provider-related requirements of this RFP including driver requirements, vehicle requirements, complaint resolution and delivery of courteous, safe, timely and efficient transportation services. The monitoring Plan should address how the Broker will collect and verify the accuracy of performance data obtained from the NEMT providers.

(App. 0107-108, § 3.3.15 Monitoring Plan)

The Broker must provide assurance that the transportation providers meet health and safety standards for vehicles maintenance, operation, and inspection; driver qualifications and training; member problem and complaint resolution; and the delivery of courteous, safe, and timely transportation services.

(App. 0139, § 3.12.1.1 Quality Assurance, Corrective Action Plans).

The NEMT Contract placed all responsibility to administer the Program on AMR. For instance, “[t]he Broker is responsible for receiving and responding to all complaints about NEMT services under this contract, whether oral or written, from members, transportation providers, health care providers, facilities, SCDHHS or other sources.” (§ 3.11.1, Complaints). If Mr. Gary had a complaint regarding Low Country Medical Transport’s service, he would contact AMR not Low Country Medical Transport. Furthermore, the NEMT Program prohibited transportation providers from soliciting additional business from members. The Contract imposed certain duties on AMR to ensure, in particular, the safety of its members.

The Health Department authorized AMR to hire qualified non-emergency medical transportation subcontractors to provide transportation services to eligible Medicaid recipients. On August 17, 2011, AMR began to provide NEMT services to eligible Medicaid recipients in South Carolina. While under contract with the Health Department, AMR entered into a separate subcontractor agreement with Low Country Medical Transport Inc.,³ and/or LCMT titled

³ On October 1, 2007, the South Carolina Secretary of State’s Office administratively dissolved Low Country Medical Transport Inc.’s, corporate status in South Carolina. (App. 0160, Department of State, Declaration of Dissolution by Forfeiture, dated October 1, 2007). The South Carolina Secretary of State reinstated it on February 29, 2012, after the date of the accident. (App. 0162, South Carolina Secretary of

“Access2Care Transportation Solutions Subcontractor Agreement” so that AMR could dispatch Low Country Medical Transport as part of its NEMT network. (App. 0151-0154, portion of LCMT Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff’s Request for Production titled “Access2Care Transportation Solutions Subcontractor Agreement”). Low Country Medical Transport has been in the business of transporting individuals to and from medical facilities since 2004. (App. 0161, South Carolina Secretary of State Application for Reinstatement of a Dissolved Corporation).

On January 31, 2012, AMR dispatched Low Country Medical Transport to provide non-emergency medical transportation for Mr. Gary to and from his medical appointment. At approximately 11:00 a.m., Low Country Medical Transport’s ambulance was transporting Mr. Gary, and his wife home after his medical appointment when suddenly and un-expectantly the ambulance ran off the road and struck a tree on Old Sheldon Church Road in Yemassee, South Carolina, only a few miles away from their home. (App. 0093-0095, Gary Summ. J. Aff. ¶ 7). The collision caused injuries to Mr. Gary and killed his wife. (App. 0020-0034, Modified Order Granting Mot. Summ. J. Dec. 3, 2013, p.5). Mr. Gary was strapped to a stretcher in the back of the ambulance and his wife was riding in the front passenger seat with her seat belt secured. (App. 0093-0095, Gary Summ. J. Aff. ¶ 7). Beaufort County EMS transported Mr. Gary to Beaufort

State Documents). The LCMT continued to operate until Low Country Medical Transport Inc.’s., reinstatement by the South Carolina Secretary of State four and half years later.

Moreover, LCMT maintained Low Country Medical Transport Inc.’s., Class C Non-Emergency Motor Vehicle Carriers’ Certificate from the South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff. See, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-240. LCMT neither transferred Low Country Medical Transport Inc.’s Certificate to LCMT nor applied for a new Certificate when Low Country Medical Transport Inc., was dissolved. “A certificate may be transferred incident to the sale or lease of property or assets owned or used by a regulated motor carrier, provided the approval of the commission for the transfer of the certificate is first obtained and that the certificate itself is not transferred for value or utilized to enhance the value of other property transferred.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-340, see also, S.C. Regs. §103-155. The Defendant Askew was unaware the corporation was dissolved; and therefore, continued to use the dissolved company’s Certificate. (App. 0154-0157, Askew Aff. ¶ 7).

Memorial Hospital. He was later transferred to the Medical University of South Carolina, where he remained for three weeks due to his injuries and conditions. (App. 93-95, Gary Summ. J. Aff. ¶ 9).

Mr. Gary filed this lawsuit on October 16, 2012, alleging Negligence, Negligence Per Se, Gross Negligence, Loss of Consortium/Companionship of Spouse, and Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress against the Defendants. In this case, Mr. Gary contends that the Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the Circuit Court's December 3, 2013, Summary Judgment Order and this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's December 3, 2013, Order for the following reasons.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO CONSIDER THE PUBLIC POLICY REASONS THE TRIAL COURT RELIED ON TO FIND AMERICAN MEDICAL RESPONSE INC. OWED A NONDELEGABLE DUTY TO THE PETITIONER

The Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the Circuit Court's decision finding that "SCDHHS's Contract 'clearly indicate[d] that public policy and its Contract' imposed a nondelegable duty upon AMR." *Garv v. Askew*, 417 S.C. 232, 789 S.E.2d 94 (Ct.App.2016). (App. to Pet. Cert. 0435). The Court of Appeals found that the Circuit Court, "failed to mention any policy considerations that led it to reach this conclusion." *Id.* (App. 0435 - 0453). To the contrary, the Circuit Court held that "[t]he The Health Department's [Non Emergency Medical Transportation ("NEMT")) Contract clearly indicates that public policy and its Contract impose a non-delegable duty on the NEMT Program administrators to provide competent and safe non-emergency medical transport services to Medicaid members, pursuant to a significant number of control measures and protocols." (App. 0031). The Circuit Court relied on the extensive control

AMR had over its NEMT service providers to conclude that public policy demands that AMR be held liable for the actions of its subcontractors. The NEMT Contract provided for the following:

Specifically, the Broker(s)' responsibilities will include, but are not limited to, operating a call center and contracting with transportation providers to fulfill the services. The Broker must establish a system that ensures high quality and appropriate medical transportation services are provided to South Carolina's Medicaid population. The Broker must pay transportation providers in accordance with the terms of the written service agreement between the Broker and each transportation provider.

(App. 0097-0098, § 1.2, Intent).

The objective of this RFP is to procure a qualified broker to improve the efficiency and effectiveness and to administer the core components of the SCDHHS' NEMT Program. SCDHHS is seeking to continuously enhance its ability to provide transportation services through innovative and proven business and technical solutions that meet the requirements specified herein.

(App. 0098, § 1.3, Objective).

The Broker must ensure transportation providers comply with the following passenger safety requirements:

3.8.3.6.1 Passengers must have their seat belts buckled at all times while they are inside the vehicle. The driver must assist passengers who are unable to fasten their own seat belts.

3.8.3.6.2 The driver must not start the vehicle until all passenger seat belts have been buckled.

3.8.3.6.3 The number of persons in the vehicle, including the driver, must not exceed the vehicle manufacturer's approved seating capacity.

3.8.3.6.4 Upon arrival at the destination, the vehicle should be parked or stopped so that passengers do not have to cross streets to reach the entrance of their destination.

3.8.3.6.5 Drivers must not leave passengers unattended.

3.8.3.6.6 If passenger behavior or other conditions impede the safe operation of the vehicle, the driver must park the vehicle in a safe location out of traffic and notify their dispatcher to request assistance.

(App. 0133-0134, § 3.8.3.6, Passenger Safety Requirements).

The Circuit Court concluded that because AMR had extensive control over its NEMT service providers that public policy dictates that "Access2Care [could not] walk away from its

responsibilities under its NEMT Contract where the duties are so important to the Medicaid members and simply transfer it to another." (App. 0031). The South Carolina Supreme Court in Simmons opined that:

Commentators have debated whether compensation is a goal of **tort** law, or simply a means by which other goals are accomplished. *See* Hubbard & Felix at 1-26 (discussing **policies** of **tort** law). Regardless, Tuomey Regional's focus on the availability of compensation misses another important aspect of **tort** law: the desire to give parties with crucial duties a keen incentive to do everything possible to avoid violating those duties. 'Immunity fosters neglect and irresponsibility, while liability encourages the exercise of due care.'

Simmons v. Tuomey Reg'l Med. Ctr., 341 S.C. 32, 533 S.E.2d 312 (2000).

The Circuit Court correctly found that AMR had a duty of care to Mr. Gary, because it had a Contract with the Health Department to provide eligible Medicaid members with NEMT services for a fee, which required it to be "... responsible for fulfilling all verified trip requests and ensuring that all trips are completed safely and on-time." (App. 0020-0034, Modified Order Granting Mot. Summ. J. Dec. 3, 2013, p.8). "The duty of care is that standard of conduct the law requires of an actor to protect others against the risk of harm from his actions." Bailey v. Segars, 346 S.C. 359, 550 S.E.2d 910 (Ct.App.2001). "An affirmative legal duty to act exists if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance." Murray v. Bank of Am., N.A., 354 S.C. 337, 580 S.E.2d 194 (Ct.App.2003).

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