THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

OCT 20 2017

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Marvin H. Dukes III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-07-03595  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001937

Charles Gary, .....

Petitioner,

v.

Hattie M. Askew, Will Outlaw, and Deboria Outlaw,  
individually and d/b/a Low Country Medical Transport,  
Low Country Medical Transport, Inc., Eugene A. Kirkland,  
and American Medical Response, Inc. (d/b/a Access2Care)

Defendants

Of whom American Medical Response, Inc. (d/b/a  
Access2Care) is, .....

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

C. Mitchell Brown  
Brian P. Crotty

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

### Argument

- I. **The Court of Appeals correctly held that the circuit court misinterpreted the nature of AMR's duties and responsibilities under the NEMT Contract, and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that, when the NEMT Contract was viewed in its entirety, it did not impose upon AMR and absolute, nondelegable duty to provide completely safe NEMT trips.**

The Court of Appeals properly reversed the circuit court's incorrect holding that AMR's NEMT broker contract with SCDHHS imposed on AMR a contractual duty to provide "safe" NEMT transportation, and that such established an ***absolute nondelegable*** duty. In granting Petitioner partial summary judgment, the circuit court first held that AMR owed Petitioner a duty of care based upon "its contract with the Health Department" which required that "all trips are

completed safely and on-time.” (App. 26-27; Order entered 12/3/13 at pp. 7-8). The effect of the circuit court’s holding was to impose on AMR a duty to guarantee absolute safety on the millions of NEMT trips it was to administer.

The circuit court then concluded that AMR breached its duty of care to Petitioner “when Low Country Medical’s ambulance ran off the road.” (App. 28; *Id.* at p.9). This equates to the conclusion that because the accident occurred, AMR breached the duty imposed by its contract. Aside from the fact that an accident occurred, the circuit court made no other finding that AMR had breached any of the requirements of its contract with SCDHHS. Rather, the circuit court concluded that Kirkland, the driver of the ambulance, was negligent as a matter of law, and that AMR was strictly and absolutely liable for that negligence. (App. 29; *Id.* at p. 10).

Kirkland was employed by Low Country, who, in turn, was merely an independent contractor of AMR. In order to impose liability on AMR for the negligent actions of an independent contractor, the circuit court concluded that AMR’s duty under its contract with SCDHHS to provide “safe” transportation was an absolute, nondelegable duty. (App. 31; *Id.* at p. 12). Thus, the circuit court’s imposition of liability on AMR rested not only on its interpretation of the contract as imposing a duty on AMR to provide completely “safe” transportation, but also on the elevation of that contractual duty to the status of an absolute nondelegable duty that would cause AMR to remain liable for the negligent actions of an independent contractor.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the circuit court erred both in its interpretation of the duty imposed by the contract and its conclusion that this contractual duty was of a nondelegable nature. AMR’s contract with SCDHHS, while requiring AMR to take certain steps designed to reasonably facilitate the provision of safe transportation, did not impose on AMR a

duty to provide complete safety and did not impose an absolute nondelegable duty of safety that rendered AMR liable for any negligent actions of an independent contractor.

**A. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the circuit court misconstrued the language of the contract as imposing a duty on AMR that equated to strict liability for any and all accidents.**

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that “the circuit court misinterpreted the nature of AMR’s duties and responsibilities under the Contract and, as a result, erred in holding AMR owed an absolute, nondelegable duty to provide safe transportation to Gary.” (App. 445-46). Petitioner contends that the Court of Appeals improperly “isolated on § 3.3.5.2” in overruling the circuit court. (Petitioner’s Brief at p. 13). However, contrary to Petitioner’s assertions, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the circuit court placed undue emphasis on sections 3.3.5 and 3.3.15, and Opinion No. 5406 illustrates its complete and proper interpretation of the Contract. (App. 445-46).

In its December 3 Order, the circuit court incorrectly concluded that “[AMR] had a contractual duty and responsibility to provide safe and reliable NEMT services to Medicaid members pursuant to its contract with the Health Department.” (App. 28; Order entered 12/3/13 at p. 9). The circuit court then concluded that AMR breached this duty of care “when Low Country Medical’s ambulance ran off the road.” (App. 28; *Id.*). Stated differently, the circuit court concluded that, *because an accident occurred—without any regard for the cause of the accident or any action or omission by AMR—AMR breached its contractual duty.* The imposition of such expansive liability is not supported by either AMR’s contract with SCDHHS or by South Carolina law, and the Court of Appeals correctly recognized the circuit court’s error.

AMR’s contract with SCDHHS creates a relationship where AMR serves only as a “broker” between SCDHHS and the entities that actually provide the NEMT services (the

“transportation providers”). The contract sets forth AMR’s obligations as a “broker” providing “brokerage services.” (App. 97; RFP at § 1.1). These obligations are separate and apart from the obligations of the ultimate “transportation providers” who provide “transportation services.” The distinction between the broker and the ultimate transportation provider is evidenced by, among other things, the contract’s provision that “only in very limited circumstances” may a broker also act as a transportation provider. (App. 105; RFP § 3.3.6). Thus, AMR never had a duty to provide “transportation services” under the Contract. Rather, AMR was specifically prohibited from providing “transportation services” itself. AMR’s duty was to arrange for a “transportation provider” (other than itself) to provide the “transportation services.” The duty to provide the “transportation services” was, therefore, never delegated by AMR because this was not a service AMR was even permitted to perform.

AMR’s specific responsibilities focused upon: establishing policies and procedures facilitating the scheduling of transportation; operating a call center with trained employees to field calls, verifying member eligibility, and scheduling the needed transportation; establishing a network of trained transportation providers that is sufficient to handle the anticipated volume; and implementing a system to track and resolve complaints. Notably, Petitioner presented no evidence that AMR violated any of these specific provisions. Further, nothing within these “core services” suggests an intent to impose upon AMR strict liability for anything that could go wrong during the transportation process or the assumption by AMR of a duty guaranteeing safety on all NEMT trips.

In imposing on AMR “an absolute duty under its contract with the Health Department to provide ‘safe’ transportation,” the circuit court relied upon two references in the contract to NEMT trips being conducted “safely” found in sections 3.3.5 and 3.3.15. (App. 27-28, 31; Order

entered 12/3/13 at pp. 8-9, 12). Specifically, section 3.3.5, which addresses “Fulfillment of All Trip Requests” provides that “[t]he Broker is responsible for fulfilling all verified trip requests and ensuring that all trips are completed safely and on time.” (App. 104; RFP § 3.3.5). Similarly, section 3.3.15, which addresses the broker’s monitoring of transportation providers, includes a reference to “delivery of courteous, safe, timely and efficient transportation services.” (App. 107; RFP § 3.3.15). The circuit court erroneously concluded that, based on this isolated language, as a matter of law, AMR had an “absolute duty” to provide transportation services that are completely “safe.” (App. 31; Order entered 12/3/12 at p. 12).

As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, the references to safety contained in sections 3.3.5 and 3.3.15 do not create an absolute duty to provide completely safe transportation. First, other provisions in the contract specifically shows an expectation that accidents and injuries in fact will happen on occasion to those being transported. In other words, there is no way to "ensure" safety while transporting someone in a vehicle. Second, it would be an absurd result were the contract to be construed to mean AMR would be liable for injuries and damages to someone being transported by a "transportation provider" under a scenario where the accident was caused by some third party, an act of God, or some other extraneous cause. Yet, the circuit court’s ruling would extend that far. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed.

Both of the references to “safety” in the contract relied upon by the circuit court are found in section 3.3, which sets forth the “Operational Requirements.” This same section of the contract contains additional subsections which illustrate *there is no* absolute guarantee of safety by AMR. Specifically, section 3.3.7 requires that AMR ensure that the “transportation providers” (as opposed to AMR) obtain and maintain adequate insurance coverage. Additionally, section 3.3.10 requires that AMR ensure that “transportation providers”

immediately notify AMR of any accidents, injuries or incidents, and section 3.3.8 requires AMR to promptly report such accidents, injuries or incidents to SCDHHS. The fact that the contract requires AMR to ensure that the “transportation providers” have insurance coverage, and that all accidents and injuries be reported to AMR, acknowledges the fact that accidents are inevitable and are clearly contemplated by the parties to the contract.<sup>4</sup> Thus, the references to “safety” are not a guarantee that accidents will never happen and that all trips will be safe, nor are they an imposition of absolute liability on AMR for accidents that do happen. Therefore, the “plain meaning” of the provisions relied upon by the circuit court cannot and does not support the circuit court’s conclusions. Rather, the contract as a whole supports the point that AMR has not violated any contractual duty, or, failing that, the language of the contract relied upon by the circuit court is, at best, ambiguous. Under either scenario, summary judgment was improper. *Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 341 S.C. 143, 151-152, 533 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding that in determining the rights and obligations of parties to a contract, the contract must be read and interpreted as a whole and the court will not read a clause in isolation).

Sections 1.2 and 1.3 of the Contract, respectively titled “Intent” and “Objective” illustrate the circuit court’s overreliance on the reference to safety in sections 3.3.5 and 3.3.15. Specifically, Section 1.2 provides:

Through the [RFP,] ... [SCDHHS] will contract with up to three Brokers to administer the daily functions of the NEMT Program. Specifically, the Broker(s)’ responsibilities will include, but are not limited to, operating a call center and contracting with transportation providers to fulfill the services. The Broker must establish a system that ensures high quality and appropriate medical transportation

---

<sup>4</sup> Similarly, the contracts provisions regarding delays and breakdowns illustrate that the references in sections 3.3.5 and 3.3.15 to the “timely” provision of transportation are not a guarantee that a passenger will never be late. Section 3.3.9 provides that the broker must make sure that the transportation provider has adequate backup vehicles to respond in the event of a breakdown or other delay. Under the reasoning adopted by the circuit court, AMR would owe an absolute duty to guarantee that patients were never late. That is simply not the case.

services are provided to South Carolina's Medicaid population. The Broker must pay transportation providers in accordance with the terms of the written service agreement between the Broker and each transportation provider.

(App. 97-98; RFP § 1.2). Similarly, section 1.3 provides that the objective of the Contract was "to procure a qualified broker to improve efficiency and effectiveness and to administer the core components of the SCDHHS' NEMT Program." (App. 98; RFP § 1.3).

AMR's specific duties with respect to accidents are set forth in section 3.3.15, which establishes a "Monitoring Plan." When read in its entirety, section 3.3.15 provides:

**3.3.15 Monitoring Plan:** The Offeror must include a Monitoring Plan in the initial proposal. The Broker is responsible for all services provided by transportation providers. The Broker must ensure adequate oversight of transportation providers and ensure that they comply with all applicable State and Federal laws and regulations. The Broker must monitor the transportation providers to ensure compliance with the terms of their subcontracts and ensure compliance with all transportation provider-related requirements of this RFP including driver requirements, vehicle requirements, complaint resolution and delivery of courteous, safe, timely and efficient transportation services. The monitoring Plan should address how the Broker will collect and verify the accuracy of performance data obtained from the NEMT providers.

Monitoring activities must include, but are not limited to:

- On-street observations
- Accident/incident reporting
- Statistical reporting of trips
- On Time Performance Measures
- Ride Time Performance Measures
- A detailed analysis of complaints
- Driver licensure, driving record, experience and training compliance
- Compliance with vehicle requirements
- Member safety, assistance and courtesy
- Completion of driver logs
- Driver communication with dispatcher
- Routine vehicle inspections, maintenance, emergency equipment and breakdowns
- A detailed analysis of 're-routed' trips
- Detailed analysis of cancelled trips
- Gas reimbursement program
- Transportation Providers, including providers of Individual Transportation

- Volunteer Drivers
- Post trip member satisfaction questionnaires for all overnight trips

(App. 107; RFP § 3.3.15). The purpose of this section is for AMR to observe its subcontractors and monitor whether they are providing a quality, safe product. If the information and the reports indicate otherwise, then AMR is required to take corrective actions against the subcontractor as set forth in Section 3.3.15.1. Thus, AMR's responsibility to “ensure safe transportation services” was met by actions such as:

- confirming compliance with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations;
- confirming compliance with driver requirements, such as licensure, driving records, training and experience;
- confirming compliance with vehicle requirements;
- observing the transportation providers on-street;
- conducting annual inspections of all vehicles used by transportation providers;
- confirming that transportation providers comply with passenger safety requirements such as the use of seat belts, the observance of seating capacity limits; and
- taking corrective action wherever problems are found.

(App. 107, 127-128, 134; RFP §§ 3.3.15, 3.8.1, 3.8.2, 3.8.3)<sup>5</sup>. There was no finding that AMR failed to take any of these actions.

---

<sup>5</sup> AMR’s obligations under the contract with SCDHHS are not limited to arranging for transportation providers to provide transportation via ambulances. Rather, the contract provides for a wide range of transportation options to be utilized by the broker, including: mileage reimbursement for private vehicles, public buses, trains, aircraft, as well as various levels of ambulance-type transportation. *See* 42 C.F.R. § 440.170(a)(4) (discussing the different types of transportation services included in a state’s NEMT brokerage program) (App. 110, 112, 121; RFP §§ 3.6.2, 3.6.3.5, 3.6.3.6, 3.7.6). In fact, the contract specifically encourages the broker “to utilize public transportation whenever possible if it is cost effective as well as appropriate for the member.” (App. 121; RFP § 3.7.6).

Petitioner cites to various provisions of the Contract dealing with duties such as minimizing waiting and riding times for people with special needs, taking corrective steps when poor service is identified by SCDHHS, and promptly reporting accidents and injuries to SCDHHS. (Petitioner's Brief at pp. 13-15). Petitioner then improperly and summarily concludes that these provisions "create a nondelegable duty on AMR." (*Id.* at p. 15). This argument is unavailing. Contrary to Petitioner's view that these provisions support the circuit court's interpretation that the contract imposed an absolute duty to provide safe transportation, they do the opposite. These provisions show that the "safety" envisioned in the contract was that AMR ensure that reasonable safety precautions are in place and are followed. If the contract's passing general references to "safety" created an absolute duty to provide safe transportation, there would be no need to include specific safety precautions, monitoring, or reporting throughout the contract.

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